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ABSTRACT

The State Circle well, discovered during the larger State Circle
archaeological investigatons, is believed to be a late 18th-century public well. The
moist environment of a well preserves ceramic, glass, metal, and organic material.
It was hoped that intact 18th and 19th century domestic deposits were preserved
in the well shaft.

Because of time constraints, a three-inch diameter core was extracted from
the well shaft, which extended thirty-five feet below surface. The results of the
coring process enabled archaeologists to make a final decision not to excavate the
well shaft. Historical documentation showed that the well was covered and had
a pump and was still in use around 1900. The well had been filled in early in
the 20th century with soil brought in from elsewhere.
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INTRODUCTION

In the fall and winter of 1989-1990, the State Circle archaeology project
was undertaken by "Archaeclogy in Annapolis,” a cooperative project between the
Historic Annapolis Foundation and the University of Maryland, College Park. The
State Circle project, undertaken with funding from the City of Annapolis and the
State of Maryland, was done in advance of the undergrounding of utility wires
around the Circle. This report details the investigation of the well discovered
during the larger project. Funding for the well coring was provided from the
emergency fund of the Maryland Historical Trust. For details of the State Circle
project as a whole, see Read (1990). A project background is provided here to

orient the reader,

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

State Circle is located within zone 7 of the Maryland Archaeological
Research Unit (Figs. 1 & 2). The well, which was discovered in the course of the
project, is located in front of and between #40 and #42 State Circle (Fig. 3). The
entire area around State Circle lies within the city’s historic district, designated
an official historic district by the National Trust for Historic Preservation in 1966.

In October 1989, archaeological investigations were begun around State
Circle under the supervision of Esther Doyle Read. These excavations were to
test twenty areas éround the Circle and on Francis and School Streets, to

determine what cultural resources would be affected by the undergrounding of
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FIG. 3: STATE CIRCLE DETAILING LOCATION OF PUBLIC WELL
(18AP61) AND CALVERT HOUSE WELL (18AP28)
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utility lines by the city. As appropriate, each area was registered with the State
Archaeologist and was assigned a site number.

In December 1989 a brick feature covered by three pieces of wood, was
discovered in Area 18, 18 AP 61. This area was tested because a Baltimore Gas
and Electric vault was to be placed here to a depth of 18 feet below ground
surface. Area 18 lies approximately halfway between Francis and Cornhill Streets
on State Circle. The brick feature straddled the sidewalk and street between the
YWCA (#40 State Circle) and the Tilghman Company Jewelers (#42 State Circle).
This brick feature was suspected to be a well or cistern, but was not definitely
identified until February 1990, when the excavation of three additional units
exposed the whole feature in plan (Fig. 4). A meeting was held at the Maryland
Historical Trust in Annapolis in February 1990, concerning the progress of the
State Circle excavations. At this time, it was agreed that the well in Area 18 was
the most important single feature found during the excavations. This was thought
to be a public well used byrresidents to obtain water for drinking and other
purposes, due to its location on the edge of the Circle. Since objects often get
thrown into or dropped down open well shafts, we hoped to obtain a well-
preserved record of everyday life in 18th and 19th century Annapolis. Because
this was a public well, the opportunity was particularly interesting and promised
a rich cross-section of Annapolitang’ material culture.

Because the city’s undergrounding operations were scheduled to start at

the beginning of March 1990, Emory Harrison of the Public Works Department,
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contacted Nicholas White, President of Foundations Unlimited in Olney, Maryland
to extract a core from the entire depth of the well shaft. "Archaeology in
Annapolis" then contracted with Mr. White to carry out this operation (Appendix
III). The work was carried out with an emergency excavation grant from the
Maryland Historical Trust.

A three-inch diameter core was extracted to determine if intact 18th and
19th-century depositional phases existed intact within the shaft. Based on the
content of the core segments, decisions would be made about further actions
regarding excavation. While decisions regarding the coring were being made,
excavation of the well shaft continued. Three feet of deposits were removed but
the well was not completely excavated. Partial excavtion of the well and core
extraction were performed by one supervisor and three field crew members from

February 19, 1990 to March 2, 1990.



PROJECT BACKGROUND

Since 1981, members of the "Archaeoclogy in Annapolis" project, a joint
venture between Historic Annapolis Foundation, a local preservation group, and
the University of Maryland, College Park, have participated in the testing and
excavation of over two dozen archaeological sites within the historic district of
the city of Annapolis. The work at many of our sites is completed with a "public”
dimension. The public program varies in its particulars from site to site, but has
a great deal of continuity insofar as archaeologists trained as interpreters present
tours to thousands of tourists and Annapolitans each year.

The major goal of the archaeological work undertaken by "Archaeology in
Annapolis” has been to examine, from a critically-informed anthropological
perspective, the social and economic history of eighteenth-century Annapolis.
Closely interwoven with this is an interest in changes to the city plan as designed
by Governor Francis Nicholson in 1695 (¢f. Leone, Ernstein, Kryder-Reid, and
Shackel 1989).

The primary object of the archaeological research design for the State Circle
project was to delineate éarlier boundaries of State Circle as part of the project’s
research interest in the city’s town plan. Expected evidence included old layers
of pavement, clay or oyster shell road surfaces, older curb lines and sidewalks, and
evidence of grading or filling in the project area. It was hoped that these features
would help us to learn about two-dimensional and three-dimensional alterations

to State Circle over its three hundred vears of existence.
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State Circle is an important area because it has been the political center
of Maryland and the visual center of Annapolis since 1695. Governor Irancis
Nicholson made Annapolis the capital of Maryland in 1694 and replaced the
town’s rudimentary and only partially filled-out grid plan laid down by Richard
Beard in 1683, with the baroque plan of circles and radiating streets evident
today. Our purpdse was to find the alterations which ten generations of
Annapolitans had made to the original plan and relate these changes to changes
in lifestyle, mindset, and political outlook. Alterations to the plan could include
changes in the widths of the radiating streets as well as changes in their points
of entry. We were also trying to see if the roadway had been raised or lowered.
We were hoping, too, to -examine the changing diameter of the Circle, from the
apparently perfect circle shown in Stoddert’s 1718 survey (Fig. 5), to the lumpy
oval it is today.

A public program was specifically designed for this project. It included a
brochure titled "Perspectives on State Circle,” designed and written by Parker B.
Potter, Jr. from material drafted by Mark P. Leone and George C. Logan. The
brochure was published with the support of the Historic Annapolis Foundation and
the University of Maryland, College Park. Three interpretive plaques were also
designed and mounted on wooden stands. These plaques served ag an introduction
to the project for passersby. The archaeologists answered specific questions
visitors had about why they were excavating in certain areas and not others, and
what they had found. Visitors were encouraged to talk to the archaeologists and

to state their own opinions about what had been found. Some residents of
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Annapolis provided insightful reminisces of their days in Annapolis. Informal
tours were given from time to time by George Logan, the State Circle public
program coordinator, and field personnel. When the entire well was revealed,
passersby became fascinafed with the structure. One person had to be designated
to answer all the questions people had about the well. The local newspaper ran

a story about the discovery of the well (Appendix IV-Capital article).
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PREHISTORIC BACKGROUND

Paleoindian Period

The Paleoindian phase (13,000 - 7,000 B.C.) is not well documented in the
northeastern United States, though evidence from the region suggests that humans
have lived here for 10,000 to 20,000 years. In the west, the most widespread
complex is the Llano or Clovis, typified by fluted points, scrapers, and blades.
These artifacts are often found in association with extinct megafauna of the
Pleistocene, suggesting a way of life centering on big game hunting (Humphrey
and Chambers 1977: 7-9).

In the east, however, finds showing evidence of Paleoindians are usually
isolated fluted points (Steponaitis 1980: 63). There are, however, several sites
in the east that reveal evidence supporting Paleoindian occupation of the region.
Two important surface sites are the Williamson site in Dinwiddie County, Virginia
and the Shoop site in Lancaster County, Pennsylvania. The artifacts uncovered
include fluted points, blades, scrapers, and wedges, which are similar between the
two sites and similar to the Clovig complex in the west. Two deeply-stratified
sites include the Shawnee Minisink site in the Delaware Water Gap and the
Thunderbird site in the Shenandoah Valley. DBoth of these sites yielded
radiocarbon dates that were contemporaneous with the Clovis complex in the west
{(Humphrey and Chambers 1977: 8-9).

Steponaitis notes that while the eastern Paleo complex is similar to the

western Clovis complexes, eastern artifacts have never been found in direct
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association with Pleistocene megafauna (1980: 63-63). Humphrey and Chambers

state that eastern evidence is "...complicated by significant variation among
artifacts both in minor detail and major form" (1977: 9). Thus, the lifeways of
the big game hunters of the west cannot be transferred to the east.

Instead, evidence suggests that the Paleoindians of the east had a much
more diversified subsistence strategy. This is because of several factors, identified
by both Steponaitis (1980} and Humphrey and Chambers (1977). As evidence in
support of this, one notes that:

While big game hunters in the Great Plains and Southwest were
ranging over thousands of square miles of essentially open
grassland, their Eastern cousins were faced with the great
variety of ecological niches in the first coniferous, then
deciduous forests which covered the land...and human groups
living in the forest must have depended increasingly on locally
available plants, small game, reptiles, and shell fish.

...This regional and seasonal variation in food and resources
would understandably result in considerable variation in cultural
adaptive strategies and their material manifestations

(Humphrey and Chambers 1977: 9).

Steponaitis notes that Palecindian base camps identified by diverse artifact
assemblages, non-random distribution of lithic debris, activity areas, and post holes
and molds, are found in riverine environments. Further, she observes that quarry
sites were identified by lack of tools, and the presence of large amounts of
debitage and a cryptocrystalline rock source (Steponaitis 1980: 66). This indicates
that eastern Paleocindians were not following migrating animals but were occupying
sites on a seasonal basis. Investigations of Paleoindian sites were inundated as

a result of the rise in sea level known to have occurred at the end of the

Pleistocene.
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Archaic Period

The end of the Pleistocene was characterized by many environmental
changes, including the inundation of some riverine environments, a change from
mixed coniferous forests to northern hardwoods, and the transition to a more
temperate climate. The Archaic period is one of cultural adaptation to these
changes and is further divided into subphases, known generally as Early Archaic,
Middle Archaic, and Late Archaic.

The Early Archaic (7500 - 6000 B.C.) is characterized by the appearance
of two artifact traditions, the corner notched tradition (7500 - 6800 B.C.) and the
bifurcate tradition (6800 - 600 B.C.). The corner notched tradition is based on the
change from fluted points to corner notched points, reflecting a different hafting
technique and utilization. The general artifact assemblages of Paleo and Archaic
peoples are very similar, thus prompting some to infer that the difference between
the two peoples was based upon which game they hunted (Steponaitis 1980: 69-
70). The bifurcate tradition involved the scheduled use of a number of seasonally
available resources. The bifurcates were made from rhyolite or quartz in the
Appalachian Mountains.

Around 6000 B.C., the climate changed from cool and dry to warm and
wet. This marked the beginning of the Middle Archaic. This period is
represented by several traditions, with the bifurcate tradition possibly extending
into this period. Marrow Mountain points were part of a tradition extending from
5000 to 4200 B.C. These points were made of rhyolite and black chert, with

associated assemblages of scrapers, large bifaces, choppers, hammers, atlatl
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weights, and axes. These peoples occupied inland swamps with transient camps
on second- and third-order streams (Steponaitis 1980: 76-77). Another tradition
was characterized by Guilford lanceolate points made of guartzite. The Guilford
assemblages were generally the same as the Marrow Mountain assemblages, with
the exception of the absence of scrapers in the former. The increase in the
number of points indicates either an intensification of use in the area, or an
increase in population (Steponaitis 1986).

The Late Archaic saw a change to a warm and dry climate and the
beginning of an oak-hickory forest. During this time period (4000 - 1000 B.C.)
there were several traditions in existence. Two distinctive traditions were the
Piedmont tradition with long-stemmed points, and the Laurentian tradition, rare
in this area. Also appearing for the first time is the broad spear which indicated
utilization of new resources, possibly estuary resources (Steponaitis 1980: 80-81).
Steatite or soapstone vessels for storage originated during this era. As Humphrey
and Chambers (1977: 11) note, the native Americans were now relying heavily on
fishing and mollusk collecting. These are all indications of an increasingly

sedentary way of life.

Woodland Period
Transition from Archaic to Woodland is marked by the appearance of
woodworking tools, such as axes and celts, and cordage-impressed ceramics. Both

types of artifacts reflect a more sedentary lifeway.
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The Woodland period (1000 B.C. - European contact [A.D. 1500]) is divided
into three phases: Early, Middle, and Late. During the Early Woodland period,
the introduction of cultigens into the Ohio and Missisgippi Valleys from Mexico
resulted in changes in those areas. However, in parts of the northeast, the
Archaic way of life continued until European contact (Humphrey and Chambers
1977: 17). As for changes occurring during the Woodland period, we are reminded
that:

Pottery is the clearest indicator of change in thig early

Woodland period. Changes in the frequency and distribution

of Accokeek, Pope’s Creek, and Mockley wares..indicate that

shifts in food procurement strategies were taking place

although all...predate the use of agricultural products.

(Handsman and McNett 1973 in Humphrey and Chambers 1977:

17-18).
No other major changes in cultural patterns, however, were noted for that time
period.

Around A.D. 1000 to 1200, cultivated legumes were introduced into the
area. This coincided with the development of improved strainsg of maize. These
developments produced significant changes in the population structure of the area
(Humphrey and Chambers 1977: 17-19), Thus, when European explorers and

colonists arrived in the Chesapeake they found sedentary populations relying on

an intensified and integrated utilization of natural and cultivated resources.
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Potential Prehistoric Sensitivity

Several aboriginal sites and components of aboriginal sites have been
recorded within the city of Annapolis (18AP4, 18AP5, 18AP11, 18AP46, and
18AP47). Only one of these, the Sands House (18AP47), is located within the
current bounds of the historic district. Because of State Circle’s proximity to
natural water resources, there exists the probability that prehistoric remains exist

within the project area. The well itself is of extremely low prehistoric sensitivity.
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HISTORICAIL. BACKGROUND

The State of Maryland was established as a proprietary colony in 1629,
upon the granting of land by Charles 1 to George Calvert, the First Lord
Baltimore. The colony’s original éapital, founded at St. Mary's City, was first
seftled in 1634 mainly by Catholics escaping religious persecution in England.
Early in its history, the colony developed an economy based largely on the export
of tobacco.

E‘ar}y urban development was somewhat slow as a result of a dispersed
settlement pattern necessitated by the tobacco economy. Most Marylanders were
engaged in the raising of tobacco, on either large, self-sufficient plantations
complete with their own blacksmiths, coopers, cobblers, and other craft specialists
or on smaller farms. The large plantations maintained their own dock facilities
for the sale and transport of the harvested crop. The smaller, less self-reliant
farms would likely have found it necessary to rely on their larger counterparts for
the processing and shipping of the crop (Middleton 1984: 105-147).

After England’s "Glorious Revolution" of 1689, Maryland became a royal
colony under the sovereignty of William and Mary. Not long afterward, Sir
Francis Nicholson was appointed Governor and in 1694 the state’s capital was
removed from St. Mary’s City to the port of entry known as Arundelton and was
renamed Annapolis. The location of the state capital was chosen for several
reasons. [First and foremost, this area was set in a central location with a rural

population which was non-Catholic and politically stable. This area also consisted
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of rising ground which would provide a healthy environment for residents (Baker
1986: 192). In his laying out of the city plan, Nicholson overlaid a Baroque design
on the earlier core designed and surveyed by Richard Beard in 1683. Baker
(Baker 1986: 191) suggests that Nicholson’s plan incorporated existing structures
within the new town.plan, which led to the present orientation of North Street
and the cutting of lots along East Street. It is believed that Nicholson
deliberately made use of a Baroque design for his city plan with the express
purpose of establishing the hierarchies of church and state (L.eone and Shackel
1986; Leone, Ernstein, Kryder-Reid, and Shackel 1989; Reps 1978: 117-140).

Baroque style has its roots in the Italian Renaissance. This style, as
understood by Leone et. al. (1989: 36), creates visual illusions using sight and
perspective. Lynch (1981: 281) summarizes the basic formula for laying out a
baroque city as the utilization of commanding points in the terrain on which to
situate important structures. These foci were connected by major streets which
were shaped as visual approaches to the foci. The important structures were also
frequently located within open squares or circles which were approached by radial
streets designed to draw the eye to the important buildings, statues, or fountains
(Reps 1972: 22).

When Nicholson created the Annapolis town plan, he used the principles of
Baroque planning to emphasize the symbolic significance of civil and religious
authority within society. On the knolls overlooking the harbor, Nicholson placed
the State House and Anglican Church, and enclosed each with a circle with

radiating streets leading out from the circles. In this way the eye of an observer
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standing at the harbor would be drawn up the hill by the radial streets to the
important buildings within the town (Reps 1972). The town plan of contemporary
Annapolis still conveys the symbolic significance of both secular and religious
authority. However, alterations have occurred to both the structures and the plan
over time. The present State House is the third such building to be constructed
on State Circle, while St. Anne’s Church is the third church on its site. Historical
documentation exists for alterations made to the structures on both circles
(Everstine 1980; Reps 1972; Radoff 1954), but alterations to the circles themselves
are less well documented.

The economy of Annapolis may be explained as having passed through the
following three phases of growth (cf. Papenfuse 1975). The first period, 1694-
1715, 1s characterized by the seasonal wax and wane of the town’s population,
dependent upon whether the General Assembly was in session or recess. The
second phase of the town’s growth occurred during the period 1715-1763. At this
point in time, the city exhibited an increase in 1ts number of permanent residents
as a result of bureaucratic growth and the expansion of small industries. And
finally, the 1763-1784 era is known as the town’s "Golden Age." It was during
thig phase that many of the fine Georgian mansions and formal gardens for which
the town is known today were built or laid out. During the same time that there
is an increase in conspicuous consumption among the more prominent members
of society, there is also a concomitant decline in small industries such as

shipbuilding and tanning (Papenfuse 1975: 6).
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With. the onset of the nineteenth century, Annapolis’ age of grandeur drew
to a close. At this latter date, Annapolis’ role as social and economic hub of the
Chesapeake declined and the town’s former glory was overshadowed by the port
of Baltimore in its ascendency to prominence on the Chesapeake. Through the
course of the nineteenth and much of the twentieth centuries,, Annapolis
functioned as a small port town, relying on local trade. Starting in the 1960,
Annapolis underwent a revitalization as the result of a major infusion of historic
preservation effort and a return of businesses to the town. Currently, much of the

town’s economic base rests on the rewards reaped from tourism.

HISTORY OF THE NICHOLSON LOT AND FREE SCHOOL LOT

Nicholson’s Lot and the Free School lot are bounded by State Circle, East
Street, Fleet Street, The City Dock, Main St. (formerly Church St.) and Francis
St. (Fig. 5). This study is only concerned with the section of the lots laying along
Francis St. and on State Circle between East and Francis Streets. State Circle
between East and Francis Streets is presently occupied by The Circle Theater
(vacant) between East and Cornhill Streets. Between Cornhill and Francis Streets
is #42 State Circle, Tighlman Co. Jewelers, a brick two story building with a
modern shop facadé and a five bay second floor. Next door, on the corner of
Francis Street, is #40 State Circle, the YWCA. This building is a two story white

frame building with seven bays across the second floor, a Victorian shop front
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occupies a portion of the.ﬁrst floor. Francis Street is presently occupied by: #2
Davidsons of Bermuda, #6, #10 Little Photo Studio, #12 the offices of Semmes,
Bowen, and Semmes and others, and #16 the Jeffery Building. A 1935 map of the
property by the Planning Commission of Annapolis gives the block number
between East Street and Cornhill as #421 (Burwell 1935). The block between
Cornhill and Francis has the block number of #422 (Burwell 1935).

The lot between East and Cornhill Streets was not researched by McWilliams
and Papenfuse (1971). This lot was part of the land originally laid out for the use
of Governor Nicholson and later resurveyed by James Stoddert in 1718. The
resurveyed Stoddert map states that this lot was "Ground formerly surveyed for
Governor Nicholson claimed and in the possession of William Bordley" (Ewald
1956). The later historsz of the block has been reconstructed using maps and
photographs.

The earliest view of the block is an 1834 sketch map of State Circle drawn
by a member of the Claude Family (1834 and Warren and Warren 1976:6-7) which
places Crabbs Post Office at this location. A circa 1850 lithograph view of
Annapolis from the dome of the State House, by Edward Sachse (MdHR 1804-41
and Warren and Warren 1976:23) illustrates a two story building with a rear
addition. The building fronts on Cornhill. None of the late nineteenth century
atlas maps of Annapolis name individual property holders at this location (Simon
J. Martinet 1860, 1865, and 1885; G. M. Hopkins 1878). An 1889 to 1892
photograph taken from the dome of the State House shows a two story L-shaped

frame building with its long axis on Cornhill Street. The building was in use as
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a restaurant (Warren Photo Collection G0985-253, ¢.1889-1892; G0985-265, ¢.1876).
The frame building was torn down by 1928 and replaced with the Circle Playhouse
(Burwell 1928; cf. revised editions of this map: 1931 and 1941), The Circle
Playhouse (or Theater) is still standing. In 1989 and 1990 the architectural firm
Schwartz and Purcell of Annapolis remodeled the building for use as apartments,
condominiums, and offices (Jay Schwartz, personal communication January 1990).

The parcel between Cornhill and Francis Street was actually two lots. The
first of the two lots was located along Francis St. and was the Free School lot.
The lot was given to King Williams School (the modern forerunner of St. Johns
College) by Governor Francis Nicholson from land comprising his personal lot
(McWillams and Papenfuse 1971). The second lot was located along Cornhill
Street and was part of Nicholson’s lot.

The "Kentish House" (or Inn) was built on the Free School lot in 1697 by
Anthony (alias William) Workman (Radoff 1954:122). This house and was located
at the upper end of Francis Street in the vicinity of the present Jeffery building.
However, Baker does not include the "Kentish House” on her map of dwellings

built in Annapolis prior to 1715 (Baker 1986:198). The Maryland Inventory of

Historic Properties (Maryland Historical Trust n.d:AA 498) states that this

building was possibly used as the King William School building when the school
was first opened (later the school would move to State Circle and then again, as
St. Johns College, to its present location on College Ave.). In 1715 the "Kentish
House" title was confirmed to the Rector, Visitors, and Governor of the Free

School (Kiltry Vol 1. April 1715 Ch. 4), although Nicholson had given this land to
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the school in the late seventeenth century, the title had never been recorded
(McWilliams and Papenfuse 1971). Stoddert surveyed the land for the Free School
from four lots on the north side of Francis Street (Fig. 5). The lot fronted Francis
Street for 348 feet.

The next recorded transaction of the property occurs in 1752, when John
Lomas sold Edward Dorsey the remainder of his lease on the "Kentish House"
(rented to Lomas by the Visitors of the Free School for a term of twenty-one
yvears). The lease names a sub-letter, James Dick as keeping a store in the
building (RB3:358). Dorsey also sublet the "Kentish Houge”. Between 1752 and
1765 the house was occupied by Elisha Fowler (1761-1764) and Michael Hensliff
(1765). (Private Account Books Hall of Records 1499).

Dorsey’s lease must have expired by 1767, in that year the Visitors of King

Williams School advertised the property for lease in the Maryland Gazette (20

April and 28 May 1767). The advertisement was for a lot with a brick house,
commonly called the "Kentish House", which had lately been occupied by William
Reynolds. The purchaser of the lease was required to build, within ten years, a
brick or stone house at least two Stories- high, with walls at least fourteen inches
thick. The House was to measure no less that 30 feet by 18 feet with 12 foot
high walls. By April of 1769 Rﬁben Merriwéather was leasing the lot from the
school for a term of twenty-one years. Merriweather gold the lease to Sarah
Potts sometime between 1769 and 1781 (Chancery Papers 11315). Potts in turn
sold her lease to Robert Coudon and James Tootall when she left Annapolis for

Frederick County in 1781 (NH1:107). Tootall and Coudon developed the property
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between 1781 and 1786, increasing the value of the lot from {300 to f1200,
Coudon built a house on the property and Tootall had a store. Tootalls share of
the lease also included three or four other buildings (McWilliams and Papenfuse
1971).

Coudon and Tootall’s partnership continued until 1786 when Tootall died. In
his will, Tootall empowered his wife Ann to convey all of his interest in the
property to Coudon by lease. Part of the property Coudon and Tootall held was
the leasehold from the Visitors of the Free School on the upper end of Francis St.
The other part of the property was located along Cornhill. This parcel was
originally part of Nicholson’s lot and was held by Coudon and Tootall by a ground
rent lease from Charles Wallace. Both lots had frontage along State Circle.

Tootall’s share of the lease was advertised in the Maryland Gazette on 5

May 1791. Two parcels were included in the advertisement. One parcel, the
residence of Dr. Shaaf, was located on Cornhill. Before Shaaf took up residence
there, the house was occupied by Nicholas Leek who ran an English school
(McWilliams and Papenfuse 1971). The second parcel contained a residence or
store located near the present corner of Cornhill and State Circle, fronting State
Circle. This is the approximate location of present Tilghman Co. Jewelers
building. McWilliams and Papenfuse (1971) feel that this store was originally
Tootall’s store. John Petty and Company had their store at this location after
Tootall. By the time the property was advertised William Foxcroft ran a store

(the Sign of the Beechive) in this building (Marviand Gazette 2 December 1790).
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Ann Tootall continued to live in the "Kentish House" on Francis St. after her
husband’s death. She supported herself by taking in student boarders from St.

John’s College. An advertisement in the Maryland Gazette on 24 September 1789

announces that she will loedge, board, and do the washing for ten St. John’s
students at f30 per year. Ann Tootall was charged with one brick dwelling (32
by 16 feet) in the Federal Direct Tax of 1798,

Louis Duvall was living in the "Kentish House" some time between 1798 and
1804. McWilliams and Papenfuse state that it is possible Duvall was there on a
lease from Ann Tootall’s heirs (NH12:421). McWilliams and Papenfuse provide no
other information concerning the "Kentish House", other than the fact that the
house was probably torn down in 1874 when St. Martins Evangelical Lutheran
Church was built. St. Martins was razed late in the twentieth century to make
way for the Jeffery Building, a modern office building.

The parcel of land on the corner of Francis Street and State Circle, which
had also belonged to the Tootalls, was in the possession of Samuel Sands in 1810.
Sands died in 1810 owning one house and lot subject to ground rent (Anne
Arundel Testament Papers, Box 95, folder 12). No other information is recorded
for this lot in the McWiliams and Papenfuse study.

In summary, the lot leased by Coudon and Tootall consisted of at least four
buildings by 1810. These buildings were the "Kentish House" (later the site of
St. Martin’s Lutheran Church and presently the site of the Jeffery Building) on
Francis St. A building on the corner of Francis and State Circle, in the

possession of William Sands in 1810 (the location of the present YWCA building).
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